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Introduction

Coming after my first book, Where the Presidents Were Born: The History and Preservation of the Presidential Birthplaces, this one may seem like the natural follow-up, given its subject. In fact, I can’t tell you how many people, upon learning that I had written a book about where the presidents were born, had the wiseacre response, “What’s your next book gonna be about? Where they died?” (They all thought they were being original.) I hadn’t originally planned to write a book on this subject, but the more I thought about it, the more intrigued I became.

The truth is, after years of researching and writing about the presidents, I wasn’t quite ready to say goodbye to them yet. There is something enormously compelling about the presidents––the good, the bad, and the mediocre. They have each held the most powerful position in America, if not the world, and almost every aspect of their lives has been meticulously studied and written about—but that is not the case with their deaths. It is always frustrating to me to read a weighty presidential biography only to have their exit and aftermath summed up in a line or two. There is much to learn from their final days, when these once all-powerful men are at their most vulnerable, and perhaps, the most human. In their deaths we often can understand how they wanted to be remembered, but in their funerals and death-related monuments, we learn how the American public chose to remember them. While sometimes moving and poignant, their deaths and the sites related to their demise are also teeming with fascinating stories.

For this book I vowed to dig deep and travel far to find the true stories of how the presidents’ illustrious lives came to an end. Birth and death, while the bookends of life, were vastly different to research and write about. The place where a president was born only became “historic in the rearview mirror,” as I like to say, after he achieved prominence and won the office many years later. Nobody knew he would grow up to be president, and his birth would have been a major event to relatively few people outside of the family. What scant details were recorded were often lost and replaced years later with embellishments and folklore. But that is not the case with death and burial, where often the minutest detail is documented and the most trivial artifact is preserved. While the difficulty of writing about birthplaces was finding sufficient credible sources, the challenge of writing this book was processing the abundance of information.

In writing The President Is Dead!, my guiding principle was “follow the body” as I explored the presidents’ final journeys, from their last breath to the grave and everything in between—and, in fact, beyond, into the public afterlife that all presidents have. And as the title suggests, burial is sometimes not the end of the journey. More than a third of the presidents have been reinterred, and a handful more than once. Often the end of their lives is replete with fascinating and bizarre stories—mysterious circumstances of death, attempted grave robbings, and a corpse temporarily misplaced. Of course, I explore graves and funerals, but also hospitals, viewing sites, funeral homes, and all locations in between. Many people are interested in all sites presidential, no matter how obscure. But while GEORGE WASHINGTON SLEPT HERE signs dot the landscape as well as a few scattered MILLARD FILLMORE STUDIED HERE and HARRY S TRUMAN ATE HERE, rarely do you see a marker that CHESTER ARTHUR WAS EMBALMED HERE or BENJAMIN HARRISON’S FUNERAL WAS HERE. This book includes such sites. It is for both the reader of history who wants to know what occurred after the presidents’ deaths and the traveler who wants to visit those locations. Some are closer than you realize. In downtown Manhattan, for instance, there are many hipster fashion stores, but I bet only a handful of passersby could point out the one that sits at the location where James Monroe died. Sometimes you may be at a historic location and have no idea that a dead president once occupied the same space—in a train station, hospital, or government building. That is because death, while obviously not something to be celebrated, is rarely even recognized. In fact, of the many historic markers at death-site locations, most dance around the obvious and do not even mention it is there that the president expired.

You may notice something strange when you first open the book. Seeing the table of contents, you may have said to yourself, “John Adams was the second president—so why is his the third chapter?” But before you get excited and contact the publisher to report a mistake, understand that the chapters are presented in the order in which the presidents died, not in which they served. This is to enable a narrative as their deaths occurred and show how the histories of medical practices, funeral customs, and pageantry have evolved over time. How the death-related locations have progressed is also fascinating. Today, it is hard to believe that both Washington’s Mount Vernon and Jefferson’s Monticello were in ruins and almost lost forever, as were the graves of William Henry Harrison, Zachary Taylor, and James Buchanan, to name a few. You will read here about the evolution of their graves—from humble crypts and unmarked mounds to the grandiose monuments and memorials of the Victorian era to the current tradition of grave sites at presidential libraries. One thing I’ve learned—while we Americans are proud that our presidents are of the people and from the people, we have often have treated them in death more like Roman emperors or Egyptian pharaohs. And for some strange reason, the closest thing one can come to immortality in America is to be a president from Ohio (visit the graves of McKinley, Harding, Grant, and Garfield to see what I mean).

I am excited to include the fun and quirky “Almost Presidents” section, which features four men who have claims to serving as the president of American territory. While their claims may be tenuous and debatable, one thing that is indisputable is that their death stories are darned interesting! If nothing else, their stories may come in handy the next time you play Trivial Pursuit.

I tried to write this book with reverence and tact. And after two books about the minutiae of the presidents’ births and deaths and many topics in between, the men who held the most important job in the world feel like old friends. I’ve grown to admire and respect them. For obvious reasons, I chose not to include chapters about our living presidents, and I hope an expanded edition is not required for a long, long while. In the meantime, I am confident you will enjoy the rich history, fascinating stories, and remarkable lives of our presidents after their deaths. I hope you feel inspired to take a road trip of your own to visit some of the notorious and obscure death-related sites!


THE

PRESIDENT IS DEAD!


BLOODLETTING AND BLISTERING
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THE FIRST PRESIDENT

George Washington [image: image] 1789–1797


CRITICAL DEATH INFORMATION:








	
Date of death:


	
December 14, 1799, between 10:20 and 11:00 p.m.





	
Cause of death:


	
Acute epiglottitis (a viral throat infection)





	
Age at death:


	
67 years, 295 days





	
Last words:


	
“’Tis well.”





	
Place of death:


	
Mount Vernon, Virginia





	
Funeral:


	
Mount Vernon, Virginia





	
Final resting place:


	
Mount Vernon, Virginia





	
Reinterred:


	
Yes





	
Cost to visit grave:


	
$15.00





	
For more information:


	
www.MountVernon.org





	
Significance:


	
The first president was the first to die
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Thursday, December 12, 1799, was a cold winter day in northern Virginia. Almost three years earlier, George Washington had left the presidency, and now he spent most of his days at his beloved estate, Mount Vernon. As he did nearly every day, Washington saddled his horse around 10:00 a.m. to inspect his farm. Almost immediately snow began to fall, until about three inches had gathered. Returning five hours later, he did not change out of his soaked clothing. The next day, Washington awoke with a severe sore throat, but the tough old general who had braved Morristown and Valley Forge would not be deterred from venturing back outside into the snow. That night his condition grew worse, but he was still strong at 67 and not one to complain, and he forewent medicine and treatment. His condition declined throughout the night. By 3:00 a.m. on Saturday, December 14, he struggled to breathe and speak. Finally, Washington conceded he needed medical attention, although had he known what he would endure at the hands of his doctors, he might have reconsidered.

The first call was not to his family doctor but to overseer George Rawlins, a skilled bleeder who also cared for Washington’s slaves. Washington held out his arm and reassured him: “Don’t be afraid.” Rawlins cut, and blood began to trickle out. Washington looked at the incision and said weakly, “The orifice is not large enough.” So Rawlins cut deeper and the blood flowed freely until 12 to 14 ounces had drained.1 By 6:00 a.m., Washington was worse: his throat was raw, he struggled to breathe, and he had a fever. His next call was to his good friend and physician of 40 years, Dr. James Craik. Before Craik arrived from Alexandria, Washington’s personal secretary, Tobias Lear, gave him a cocktail of butter, molasses, and vinegar to ease his pain, but instead, it nearly choked him.2

Craik arrived at 9:00 a.m. and found Washington in the upstairs master bedroom. He applied a “blister of cantharides” to his throat, an excruciating practice that was believed to “draw out the deadly humors.” Craik then drew more blood, this time from Washington’s neck and arm. At noon, he performed an enema and later had Washington gargle with sage tea and vinegar. With the president’s condition, not surprisingly, worsening, Dr. Craik sent for two consulting physicians, Dr. Elisha Cullen Dick and Dr. Gustavus Richard Brown from Port Tobacco. Before they arrived, between 3:00 and 4:00 p.m., Dr. Craik again bled the president. The three doctors surveyed the patient and apparently decided that if there was any blood left, it should be removed. Another 32 ounces was siphoned out of the weakened Washington. All told, a staggering 82 ounces of blood—almost 2.5 liters—was drained in a matter of hours! Finally, the doctors mercifully stopped, but the fact that Washington was still alive after 40 percent of his blood was drained showed how tough the old general was.

Those with him during those final hours admired how Washington faced the excruciating and humiliating treatment and prospect of death with the same dignity and courage he demonstrated in the rest of his life. But his primary concern was perhaps a fate worse than death: being buried alive. And this fear—taphephobia—was not unfounded. At the end of the 18th century, doctors could not always distinguish a comatose patient from a dead one, and in some instances, people were indeed buried before their time. This led to the invention of “safety coffins,” which were equipped with a string inside attached to a bell located above ground. For several days after the burial, someone would stand guard and listen for a ring to alert them that the person in the coffin was still alive.
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Currier & Ives lithograph, Death of George Washington. (Library of Congress)

In a barely audible voice, Washington pleaded with Tobias Lear: “I am just going. Have me decently buried, and do not let my body be put into the vault in less than three days after I am dead.” A saddened Lear nodded, but Washington was so worried about being buried alive that he would not let a silent nod suffice. “Do you understand me?” he demanded, in as strong a voice as he could muster. Lear replied, “Yes, sir.” Satisfied, Washington uttered what were to be his final words, “’Tis well.”3 At 10:20 p.m., Washington leaned back and placed his fingers on his wrist to feel his own weak pulse. Sometime before 11:00 p.m. on the evening on Saturday, December 14, Washington’s fingers slipped off his wrist; he took his last breath, and died. With him were his wife, Martha; Dr. Craik; Lear; his valet, Christopher Sheels; and three of his slaves. Dr. Craik gently closed Washington’s eyes.

In those final hours, Washington’s step-granddaughter, Elizabeth Parke Custis Law, had summoned another doctor, William Thornton. Dr. Thornton believed a tracheotomy, a rare and risky procedure at the time, would save his life, but when he arrived at Mount Vernon, Washington was already dead. Thornton was not ready to concede. Convinced the cold weather would hold Washington in a state of suspended animation, Thornton proposed . . . well, what Thornton proposed is probably best told in his own words: “First to thaw him in cold water, then to lay him in blankets, and by degrees and by friction to give him warmth, and to put into activity the minute blood vessels, at the same time to open a passage to the lungs by the trachea, and to inflate them with air, to produce an artificial respiration, and to transfuse blood into him from a lamb.”4 Thankfully, Washington was spared this desecration when the other doctors wisely convinced him it would not work. Thornton later suggested that the president should rest for eternity not at Mount Vernon, as Washington himself wished, but in the capital city named in his honor. In addition to being a doctor, Thornton was the architect who designed the United States Capitol. In it he planned a rotunda, and envisioned this would be where the president should rest in peace.

Since construction of the rotunda had not begun, for the time being Washington’s own wishes would be carried out. Washington had made arrangements for his final resting place in his will (dated July 9, 1799), selecting a serene spot on Mount Vernon for a new, aboveground crypt large enough for family members who wished to join him in eternal rest.5

In addition, Washington’s will included an astounding clause in which he arranged for the immediate freedom of his “mulatto man, William,” and that the rest of his slaves were to be freed upon the death of his wife (Washington did not consider the unintended ramifications of his decision—Martha feared the slaves would kill her when she realized that her death was the only thing preventing their freedom). Washington’s will also stipulated that his heirs would clothe and feed those unable to care for themselves. And for those young and without parents, he instructed they be taught to read and trained for work that was allowable by law.6

The body was placed in a mahogany casket made in Alexandria. Inscribed on the casket at the head was SURGE AD JUDICIUM (rise to judgment) and at the middle, GLORIA DEO (Glory to God). Attached to the coffin was a silver plate that read:

GEORGE WASHINGTON

BORN FEB 22, 1732

DIED DECEMBER 14, 17997

Despite Washington’s specific request in his will that his “Corpse may be Interred in a private manner, without parade, or funeral Oration,” the Masonic Fraternity of Alexandria was permitted to honor their fellow Free Mason (Washington was a member of the Washington-Alexandria Lodge #22 at the time of his death). The funeral was held on Wednesday, December 18, and hundreds gathered at Mount Vernon. The pallbearers were Washington’s friends and business associates. Protestant Episcopal funeral services were read by Reverend Thomas Davis from the Christ Church in Alexandria.8 It was scheduled to start at noon, but due to people arriving late, the procession did not start until 3:00 p.m. It was led by the clergymen and Washington’s horse, who walked with an empty saddle draped with Washington’s holster and pistols.

Colonel Thomas Blackburn, Washington’s aide during the Revolutionary War and a relative through marriage, led the short procession to the redbrick vault. About a dozen mourners followed the Masonic pallbearers as an Alexandria band played a funeral dirge. At the tomb, Reverend Davis read the Episcopal Order of Burial, and Reverend James Muir (from the Alexandria Presbyterian Church) and Dr. Cullen Dick performed the ceremonial Masonic funeral rites. Also officiating was Reverend Walter Dulany Addison, the first deacon of the Protestant Episcopal Church. The shroud was pulled back for a final look at Washington before the coffin was sealed and placed in the tomb. A 21-gun artillery salute concluded the ceremony. Afterward, the Free Masons walked back to Washington’s home to pay their respects to Martha before leaving. This first presidential funeral was now concluded. It contained military traditions that are still employed today, including the 21-gun salute and the riderless horse. The funeral cost was tallied at $99.25, which included $2.00 to rent the bier.

All throughout the nation, somber mock funeral parades were held and public eulogies were delivered. The most famous occurred on December 26, 1799, in Philadelphia, the nation’s capital at the time. After a funeral procession that featured everything except the body of Washington, Virginia representative Henry Lee delivered the eulogy. Lee was a Revolutionary War officer, father of Robert E. Lee, and a close friend of Washington. His words of praise have been immortalized as possibly the greatest presidential tribute: “First in war, first in peace and first in the hearts of his countrymen.” Lee continued, “He was second to none in the humble and endearing scenes of private life. Pious, just, humane, temperate and sincere—uniform, dignified and commanding—his example was as edifying to all around him as were the effects of that example lasting. . . . Correct throughout, vice shuddered in his presence and virtue always felt his fostering hand. The purity of his private character gave effulgence to his public virtues. . . . Such was the man for whom our nation mourns.”9

[image: image]

The original tomb of George Washington and the site of the attempted theft of his skull.

The family vault where George Washington was placed was located about 250 yards south of the mansion and was originally built in 1745 for George’s brother, Lawrence Washington. It overlooked the Potomac River but was prone to flooding. Those in Congress considered the Mount Vernon burial place to be temporary. To formalize Thornton’s suggestion, Congress passed a secret resolution on December 23, 1799, “That a marble monument be erected by the United States in the capital of the city of Washington, and that the family of General Washington be requested to permit his body to be deposited under it.” President John Adams, the first president without any living predecessors, wrote Martha to ask her consent. She agreed, on the condition that she be allowed to rest beside her husband when she died. Adams agreed, and Martha gave her official permission on December 31 in a written reply to President Adams.

On May 22, 1802, Martha Washington passed away, just 11 days shy of her 71st birthday. Curiously, her coffin was engraved with a mistake in her age: MARTHA, CONSORT OF WASHINGTON; DIED MAY 22, 1802, AGED 71 YEARS.10 With construction of the rotunda and crypt still on hold—“Due to a shortage of funds and materials [and] sporadic construction phases, and the fire set by the British in 1814”—she was placed in the Mount Vernon tomb with her husband.11 In 1818, the rotunda was completed, and the tomb area was built two floors directly below. That same year, a young congressman, James Buchanan, led the effort to move Washington’s remains to the crypt when he pleaded, “[Washington] has been sleeping with his fathers for almost a quarter of a century, and his mortal remains have yet been unhonored by that people, who, with justice, call him the father of their country.”12 But despite overtures from national leaders, no progress was being made on moving the remains from Mount Vernon.

After Martha died, Washington’s nephew Bushrod, an associate justice on the US Supreme Court, inherited Mount Vernon and was charged with building the new tomb. Bushrod died 30 years after Washington, on November 26, 1829, without starting construction. He too was placed in the crumbling, waterlogged tomb that he had been tasked with replacing. By this time, the tomb held about 20 family members and many of the wooden coffins were rotting away, exposing bones that spilled onto the damp floor. (The Washingtons were spared such desecration as their coffins were placed on a wooden table.)

After Bushrod died, Washington’s nephew John Augustine Washington took over Mount Vernon. One of the first things he did was to fire one of the gardeners. However, this man did not go gently into the night. Instead, he sought revenge in a most gruesome manner. After getting liquored up, he returned to Mount Vernon, stumbled into the old family tomb, and stole what he believed was the skull of Washington! Luckily, with all of the dead bodies in the tomb, he actually made off with the skull of a member of the Blackburn family, the in-laws of one of Washington’s nephews. The inebriated gardener did not get far and was captured the next day in Alexandria.13

Another bizarre incident occurred years later when a rumor surfaced that the skull of Washington had been stolen. In this tale, the perpetrator was not a drunk gardener but rather French sailors from a vessel anchored near Mount Vernon. According to Henry Lamb, who lived nearby, the skull was brought to France, where it was sold to phrenologists—pseudo-scientists who specialized in determining human characteristics by measuring the skull. If this is so, then whose skull is currently in the tomb? To his dying day, Lamb swore that the skull was replaced with that of a slave that belonged to Washington’s friend, Colonel William Fairfax.14

The attempted theft by the disgruntled gardener did have a silver lining: it finally motivated Washington’s nephew, Major Lawrence Lewis, and step-grandson, George Washington Parke Custis, to start construction on the new vault later that year. The structure, located 100 yards west of the old tomb, was made of brick and had a metal roof, 12-foot-high walls, and iron bars. Above the entrance, the words WASHINGTON FAMILY were inscribed. When Washington’s body was moved there one year later, a new coffin was required. John Struthers of Philadelphia volunteered to build one for the venerated president, and Lewis accepted his “very liberal and polite offer.”15 It was determined that the coffin would not be hidden in the vault but rather placed where it could be seen. An antechamber was subsequently built in front.

The sarcophagus, completed in 1837, was cut from a single piece of Pennsylvania marble. On top was carved an eagle above a shield covered with the stripes of the flag, with the family name inscribed below it. Struthers may have offered his services for free, but he wanted to make sure people knew about his generosity. At the base he added another inscription, “By the permission of Lawrence Lewis, Esq. This Sarcophagus of Washington was presented by John Struthers, of Philadelphia, Marble Mason.” He added a second inscription on the other side: “This Sarcophagus containing the remains of George Washington, first President of the United States, was made and presented for the purpose by John Struthers of Philadelphia this day of A.D. 1837.” He also created a coffin for Martha, correcting her age in the process.

On October 7, 1837, the door to the crypt was opened for the first time since 1831. After moving several other coffins to get to Washington’s, it was found that the wooden case that enclosed the lead coffin had rotted, causing it to sink. The coffin was opened and the body, nearly 38 years dead, was gently removed and placed in a new coffin along with the plate from the rotted coffin. It was then cemented shut and placed outside of the vault in the antechamber, where to this day it can be seen behind the locked gate.16

The tomb is reverently marked and inscribed. Above it is an engraving that reads:

I AM THE RESURRECTION AND THE LIFE, SAITH THE LORD. HE THAT BELIEVETH IN ME, THOUGH HE WERE DEAD YET SHALL HE LIVE, AND WHOSOEVER LIVETH AND BELIEVETH IN ME SHALL NEVER DIE

ST. JOHN, XI.25.26

Above the arched entrance to the tomb is an engraving that reads:

WITHIN THIS ENCLOSURE REST THE REMAINS OF GENL. GEORGE WASHINGTON
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Washington’s tomb, 1980. (Library of Congress)

Also to the left of the tomb today sits a marker that reads:

TOMB OF WASHINGTON

ERECTED 1830–31

SITE & MATERIALS SPECIFIED IN
WASHINGTON’S WILL

Watching over the new tomb was Edmund Parker. He was a descendent of one of Washington’s slaves and gatekeeper for the tomb from 1841 (except for a period during the Civil War) until his death on December 30, 1898.17

Around the same time that construction on the new tomb began in 1830, a House committee was formed to move Washington’s body to the Capitol rotunda. A resolution was passed to reinter the remains on February 22, 1832, on what would have been Washington’s 100th birthday. An initial request for consent was sent to George Washington Park Custis, who gave his permission on February 14, 1832: “I give my most hearty consent to the removal of the remains, after the manner requested, and congratulate the Government upon the approaching consummation of a great act of national gratitude.”18 However, the plan hit a major obstacle when a letter was received the next day from John Augustine Washington. Having recently completed the new tomb, albeit over 30 years late, he politely overruled: “When I recollect his will, in respect to the disposition of his remains, has been recently carried out in full effect and that they now repose in perfect tranquility, surrounded by those of other endeared members of the family. I hope Congress will do justice to the motives which seem to me to require that I should not consent to their separation.”19

Had it not been for the attempted theft of Washington’s skull that prompted the building of a new tomb, the outcome might have been different. But, supporting the wishes of the family, the General Assembly of Virginia passed a resolution on February 20, 1832, that “unanimously resolved that the proprietor be earnestly requested, in the name of the state, not to consent to the removal of his remains from Mount Vernon.” With permission formally denied, Congress gave up their pursuit of the remains. The crypt built for Washington remained vacant but was opened to visitors. It was later closed to the general public and could be seen by special permission only, “on account of acts of vandalism perpetrated by souvenir hunters.”20

The idea of moving Washington’s body again resurfaced in 1897. After the completion of Ulysses S. Grant’s tomb in Manhattan’s Riverside Park, a movement started for a bigger, better memorial for our nation’s first president at the same location. After almost a century, the prospect of moving Washington’s remains from Mount Vernon sparked outrage. The New York Times called the suggestion “sacrilegious” and the idea fizzled as quickly as it started.21

A century ago, the tomb of George Washington was one of the most venerated sites in America. Visiting was the equivalent of a Holy Land tour, as an 1892 publication, The American Nation, described: “The Grave of Washington has so long been the Mecca of thousands of patriotic Americans.”22 For many years, the tomb was the central attraction at Mount Vernon, with the home being relegated as a side attraction. In 1895 a New York Times reporter asked, “Who can gaze upon the tomb of Washington and Martha his wife without a feeling of awe? A strange sensation comes over one as he realizes that in the marble sarcophagus before him reposes the dust of the founder of this Republic.”23

Today at Mount Vernon, visitors can step on the same ground that many great men and women have walked before. Washington was frequently visited by other founding fathers, including John Adams, Thomas Jefferson, James Monroe, and first president under the Articles of Confederation, John Hanson. After he died, many esteemed leaders made the pilgrimage to Mount Vernon. Its proximity to Washington, DC, made it a quick and convenient trip.24 In the fall of 1801, future President John Quincy Adams visited Mount Vernon for two days,25 and in October 1860, James Buchanan escorted the Prince of Wales to the tomb, where they planted an oak tree.

On December 14, 1899, 100 years after Washington’s death, the Free Masons held a ceremony at his tomb. It started at the old tomb, where a speech was made by the Grand Master of the Masons of Colorado, as his state conceived the event six years earlier. They then marched to the new tomb, where “beautiful and impressive Masonic services were conducted.” The groups deposited several symbolic items on the sarcophagus, including a lambskin apron, a white glove, and “festoons of evergreens.” Fellow Free Mason President William McKinley addressed the crowd. Later that same day, a second ceremony was conducted by the fraternal organization, the Improved Order of Red Men.26

Most dignitaries have chosen to visit on Washington’s birthday to lay a memorial wreath at the tomb. On February 22, 1912, William Howard Taft “walked between hundreds of sightseers” to place a wreath of white roses and carnations.27 In 1932, Herbert Hoover laid a wreath before speaking to several thousand members of the National Educational Association at Mount Vernon. It was heard on over 150 radio stations and was the first ever broadcast from Mount Vernon.28

Perhaps no president visited the tomb more than Franklin Roosevelt, stopping by at least five times during his 12 years in office. On February 22, 1934, Franklin and First Lady Eleanor braved a “downpour of rain.” The presidential car drove to within 10 feet of the tomb and only a small group of people witnessed the event, proving it a sincere observance of respect and not a mere publicity stunt. Roosevelt approached the tomb and stood for a minute in silence.29 Roosevelt visited again in 1935 and 1937 to lay a wreath.30 He also made pilgrimages with visiting dignitaries. On June 9, 1939, Roosevelt accompanied King George VI of England as he “paid homage to America’s foremost shrine.” The king placed a wreath of white lilies, iris, and carnations with a card that read “From George R. I. and Elizabeth R.” before a handful of invited guests, including members of the Mount Vernon Ladies’ Association.31 Roosevelt visited again on January 8, 1942, along with Winston Churchill. The next year on February 22, 1943, Eleanor accompanied the Chinese first lady Madame Chiang Kai-shek to lay several wreaths at the grave.32
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Franklin Roosevelt visits the Washington tomb on February 22, 1935. (Library of Congress)

After the war, President Harry S Truman continued the birthday wreath tradition when he visited in 1947. Truman “motored over the snow covered roads” to place the floral arrangement of red carnations, and was greeted by a group of amputees from Walter Reed Hospital.33 On July 11, 1961, John F. Kennedy held a state dinner at Mount Vernon for the president of Pakistan, Ayub Khan. On February 22, 1982, Ronald Reagan, along with First Lady Nancy, laid a wreath and spoke from the steps of Mount Vernon.34

Today, there are special wreath-laying ceremonies at the tomb each day at 10:00 a.m. and 3:00 p.m., April through October, and at noon from November through March.

THE GEORGE WASHINGTON DEATH SITES

One of the convenient things about visiting the Washington death site is that Mount Vernon is a “one-stop shopping” locale: you can see where he died, where his funeral took place, and the old and new tombs in one location. The land was first acquired by Washington’s great-grandfather John in 1674, and the home was built by his father, Augustine Washington, in 1735. It was later owned by Washington’s half-brother Lawrence, who named the estate Mount Vernon in honor of his former commander in the British navy, Admiral Edward “Old Grog” Vernon. When Lawrence died, he passed Mount Vernon on to George Washington in 1753.35 The future president made extensive changes to the home: in 1758 he built another floor, and during the 1770s he added wings on either side. The exterior walls were made of wood, cut and painted to resemble stone. Washington played an active role during construction and was kept apprised of progress while serving as general of the Continental army in the Revolutionary War.36

The second-floor room where Washington died is referred to as “The Washingtons’ Bedchamber.” This large room—19 feet wide by 15 feet long, with seven-foot-nine-inch ceilings—was where George and Martha slept, wrote letters, and read their Bible. The six-and-a-half-foot-long bed they shared, where Washington died, was built in Philadelphia in the early 1790s, while he was serving his first term as president.

Mount Vernon remained in the Washington family through several different owners, but the home fell into disrepair. By the 1850s, it was “rotting away, and its floor seemed hardly secure enough to justify the visitor in trusting himself upon it.”37 One of the columns went missing from the portico and was replaced with a sailing mast, which simultaneously looked ridiculous and sad. What seems inevitable today—that this historic home and property should be preserved for the ages—would not have been the case if not for a group of women that pioneered the historic preservation movement.

When it comes to the Americans, Washington is a legend. Even when it comes to the presidents, men who are giants, Washington still towers over them, perhaps only rivaled by Lincoln. To Harry Lee’s famous eulogy of him as “First in war, first in peace and first in the hearts of his countrymen,” a few more firsts can be added: first in death, and his ancestral home was first in historic preservation. It began in 1853, when Ann Pamela Cunningham from Virginia visited Mount Vernon and was appalled by its horrible condition. Inspired by a sense of purpose, she organized like-minded women to save it. They met for the first time on June 12, 1854, and called themselves the “Mount Vernon Ladies’ Association of the Union.” John Augustine Washington owned the home at the time, and had been unsuccessfully trying to turn it over to the federal government. Fully aware the home needed to be preserved, he was not initially receptive to their offer: “He was filled with horror that women should do that which should so emphasize the degeneracy of men.”38 The women were persistent, and in 1856 the state of Virginia passed an act authorizing them to purchase the home.39 They began a drive to raise the necessary funds, which included a $50 donation from President Martin Van Buren’s family in Kinderhook, New York.40 After reaching their goal for a down payment, John Augustine Washington put his sexism aside and sold Mount Vernon on April 8, 1858, for $200,000.41 They officially took over management on February 22, 1860, what would have been Washington’s 128th birthday, charging visitors a quarter to see the historic estate.42
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Mount Vernon, where Washington died on December 14, 1799.

Shortly afterward, the nation was plunged into Civil War. The first superintendent of Mount Vernon, Upton H. Herbert, stayed at his post, later boasting, “I never left Mount Vernon during the war.” Revered by both Union and Confederate soldiers, the property was considered neutral territory. Despite their differences, one thing they could agree upon was their love for the first president and the estate “constituted the one spot upon which Union and Confederates could meet and fraternize.”43 One soldier—whether Union or Confederate is unknown—did not share that respect, and climbed over the iron railing, breaking off one of the eagle’s talons. After the incident, a second, impregnable iron gate was installed that reached to the top of the arch. Reportedly, to ensure such vandalism never again occurred, the key was thrown into the depths of the Potomac River (presumably a duplicate key was made beforehand).

Throughout the years, the tomb has required constant restorations and maintenance, largely due to the dampness of the riverfront area. In 1891, a hole was cut into the back and an iron grate installed to vent moisture. In 1903, it was reported that the tomb was “fast crumbling away” and “with the finger one can scrape away layer after layer.”44 Repairs were done, but one of the bricks that contained the Masonic emblem was unsalvageable and a replica had to be created.

Even after more than two centuries, authentic and recreated relics from Washington’s death still exist in abundance. A full-scale replica of the Mount Vernon home can be found across the country, on the outskirts of Olympic National Park in Port Angeles, Washington. The building—which is actually a hotel—is named the George Washington Inn and, according to its website (www.GeorgeWashingtonInn.com), “was inspired by Mount Vernon and built as a replica of George Washington’s home, here on the west coast in honor of our first president’s faith and legacy. As a luxury inn fit for a president, [one can] enjoy its waterfront panorama and breathtaking views of the Olympic Mountains, all in a rural setting similar to Mount Vernon.”

Pieces of the rotted wood from the original coffin were saved and distributed as mementos—one shard is now on display at the Smithsonian Museum in Washington, DC.45 A replica of the first coffin can be seen at the Education Center in Mount Vernon, and several medical instruments used to treat Washington in his final hours are on display at the George Washington Masonic National Memorial in Alexandria, Virginia. In a glass case at the National Museum of Funeral History in Houston, Texas, is the original funeral billing statement.

As Washington was the commanding general of America’s first army, it was appropriate that I visited Mount Vernon on Veterans Day. It was crowded, and roaming the estate were many of our modern-day heroes from the armed forces. I was more than happy to wait in line for almost an hour behind America’s finest for my turn to tour the home. On such a busy day, tourists are quickly ushered past the room where Washington died. I then visited the tomb, where a young woman was fielding questions from tourists. I could not resist asking her about the infamous drunken-gardener-skull-robbing episode. After a momentary pause, she recoiled in horror and blurted, “I never heard of that!”

After visiting the tomb, I crossed the Potomac River to take a tour of the Capitol building and to see the proposed crypt. While not part of the tour, I did have a guide nice enough to take me there after the tour officially ended. The empty crypt lies two floors beneath the rotunda, in a cramped space with an arched ceiling. It now houses a historic black catafalque. The structure was first built in 1865 to hold the remains of Abraham Lincoln as he lay in state two floors above. It has been used by 10 more presidents since. The floor between the crypt and rotunda is called the United States Capitol Crypt, so named because it was intended to be the entrance to the tomb below. On the floor is a “Compass Stone,” beneath which the proposed tomb of the first president lies. At one time, a statue of Washington stood on this spot.

An interesting occurrence of a paranormal nature took place in the spring of 1806 when Massachusetts politician Josiah Quincy III visited Bushrod at Mount Vernon. It is notable as it appeared in a 19th century family history written by Josiah’s son. The gracious host took his guest on a tour of the old tomb. Quincy was appalled when he saw Washington’s final resting place in shambles, and later wrote that the “velvet cover of the coffin was hanging in tatters, it having been brought to this condition by the assaults of relic-hunters.” At the end of the day, Bushrod escorted Quincy to Washington’s bedchamber where he would sleep for the night. As he walked out, Bushrod offered an ominous warning: “An interview with Washington had been granted to some of its former occupants.” Perhaps that statement coupled with the experience in the tomb induced a strange vision, because that night Josiah claimed to have been visited by the ghost of George Washington! His son recounted his experience years later: “And during the night he did see Washington, and this is all I have to say about it. If I gave the particulars, I should feel bound to give a full explanation of them by Dr. Hammond, or some other expert in cerebral illusions; and this would occupy too much space for an episode. It may be worthwhile to say that nothing my father saw, or thought he saw, was useful in confirming his faith in a spiritual world. His assurance in this matter was perfect. He believed that brain action (if that is the correct expression) was at times set up in us by friends no longer in the flesh, and that his own life had been guided by these mysterious influences.”46
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The empty crypt built for Washington’s remains beneath the United States Capitol building.

Mount Vernon is located at 3200 Mount Vernon Memorial Highway, Mount Vernon, Virginia, 22309. The site is open 365 days a year, and hours vary throughout the year. For the latest information, visit: www.MountVernon.org.


THE THIRD PRESIDENT

Thomas Jefferson [image: image] 1801–1809


CRITICAL DEATH INFORMATION:








	
Date of death:


	
July 4, 1826, 12:50 p.m.





	
Cause of death:


	
Multiple ailments including intense diarrhea, kidney disease, and pneumonia





	
Age at death:


	
83 years, 82 days





	
Last words:


	
“No, doctor, nothing more.” (last recorded words)





	
Place of death:


	
Monticello, Virginia





	
Funeral:


	
Monticello, Virginia





	
Final resting place:


	
Monticello, Virginia





	
Reinterred:


	
No





	
Cost to visit grave:


	
$22.00 (the most expensive presidential grave)





	
For more information:


	
www.Monticello.org





	
Significance:


	
Ended longest period when no presidential deaths occurred
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After George Washington died, more than 26 years passed without a presidential death—a record that still stands to this day. That ended when Thomas Jefferson died on the 50th anniversary of the signing of the Declaration of Independence. It would then be less than six hours before the nation was again saddened by a presidential death.

After his presidency, Jefferson lived in Monticello, his beloved home in Virginia that he designed himself. He focused on his farming and his family, stayed politically active, and dedicated much time and energy to founding the University of Virginia. Jefferson had sporadic health issues, including severe diarrhea that plagued him in his later years. In the fall of 1819, premature rumors of Jefferson’s death circulated following a severe case of blood poisoning, but by the end of the year he had recovered. In May 1825, Jefferson developed bladder problems, causing him pain when he urinated. He was cared for by Dr. Robley Dunglison, professor of anatomy and medicine at the University of Virginia. Dunglison prescribed opium, a drug that Jefferson had taken over the years to alleviate his aches and pains. His doses increased, and by the end of 1825, Jefferson considered taking the drug “to be [his] habitual state.”1 To prepare for the end, he made his will on March 16, 1826, leaving Monticello to his daughter Martha and a “gold-mounted walking staff” to his presidential successor James Madison.

In May 1826, his health further declined. At 83 years of age, Jefferson suffered from multiple ailments, including, besides intense diarrhea, boils on his backside, a kidney infection, kidney damage, and pneumonia. On June 24, he called for Dunglison, who two days later wrote that the health problems were “making a decided impact on his bodily powers.” Jefferson was confined to his bed and had no illusions that he would live much longer. The family was on a death watch as the nation approached the 50th anniversary of the signing of the Declaration of Independence—and its author desperately hoped to survive for the historic milestone.

On July 3, Jefferson slept most of the day, heavily medicated on opiates and fading in and out of consciousness.2 With him were his granddaughter’s husband Nicholas Trist, Dr. Dunglison, and his grandson, Thomas Jefferson Randolph. Jefferson awoke in the early evening and asked, “This is the Fourth?” Jefferson then repeated himself, “This is the Fourth?” Trist opted to tell a white lie and nodded an affirmative. These would have been romantic and appropriate last words, but Jefferson was not done speaking. He responded, “Just as I had wished,” and went back to sleep, satisfied that he had lived to see the historic date. A few hours later, Jefferson awoke again, at about 7:00 p.m., to find Dr. Dunglison by his bedside. He weakly said, “Ah! Doctor, are you still here?” He again asked, “Is it the Fourth?” Dunglison truthfully answered, “It soon will be.”

Jefferson fell asleep and awoke around 9:00 p.m. Dr. Dunglison asked him if he wanted an opiate to make him more comfortable, but he was finished with the drug and responded, “No, doctor, nothing more.” These were his last recorded words but not the last words he would speak. About 4:00 a.m. on July 4, Jefferson awoke. He called his servants in, but what exactly was said is unknown.

He next woke at 10:00 a.m., uncomfortable and unable to speak. Understanding what was wrong, his house slave Burwell Corbert adjusted his pillow. Jefferson dozed again and awoke at 11:00 a.m. He moved his lips to indicate he was thirsty, and his grandson placed a wet sponge to his mouth.3 At 12:50 p.m., Thomas Jefferson’s heart stopped beating—he was dead. His grandson closed Jefferson’s eyes, and Trist clipped off a lock of hair that still had strands of the red from his youth.4

Jefferson was placed in a simple wooden coffin, probably built by his slave John Hemmings. A small funeral was held the next day, on July 5, without pomp or circumstance. As with many of his death preparations, Jefferson’s wishes were explicit: invitations were not to be sent, but rather, all were welcome. Because he was buried so quickly, many people who might have liked to attend were unaware of the funeral and possibly even of his death.5 One young man who did travel to Monticello that day was a 17-year-old student, Edgar Allan Poe. The funeral was held at 5:00 p.m. in the falling rain. The crowd stood around Jefferson’s coffin, which lay on planks placed over the grave. The service was conducted by Reverend Frederick Hatch, rector of the Episcopal Church in Charlottesville, and Thomas Jefferson Randolph read from the Book of Common Prayer. At the conclusion of the ceremony, the coffin was lowered into a grave that had been dug by Jefferson’s slave, Wormley Hughes.6

In 1771, Jefferson had written a detailed description about where he wanted to be buried: “Choose some unfrequented vale in the park, where is no sound to break the stillness, but a brook that bubbling winds among the woods—no mark of human shape that has been there, unless the skeleton of some poor wretch who sought that place out of despair to die in. Let it be among ancient and venerable oaks; intersperse some gloomy evergreens. Appropriate one half to the use of my family; the other to strangers, servants, etc.” When his best friend and brother-in-law, Dabney Carr, died at the young age of 30 in 1773, Jefferson had to put his plan into effect prematurely. As children, Carr and Jefferson promised each other they would be buried together at their favorite spot in the shade of a great oak tree. Jefferson cleared an 80-square-foot section for the graveyard and later added trees, landscaping, and a path to the house. In September 1782, he buried his young wife, Martha Wayles Skelton Jefferson, there, and several family members and friends were later buried alongside her.7 By the time Jefferson died, there were 12 graves in the cemetery.

Jefferson also specified his tombstone’s shape, material, and what was (and was not) to be inscribed on it. He wrote: “Could the dead feel any interest in monuments or their incumberances, the following would be to my Manes and most gratifying: On my grave a plain die or cube of three feet, without any mouldings, surmounted by an Obelisk of six feet, each of a single stone. On the face of the Obelisk the following inscription, & not a word more: ‘Here was buried Thomas Jefferson, Author of the Declaration of American Independence, of the Statute of Virginia for religious freedom & Father of the University of Virginia’ because by these, as testimonials that I have lived, I wish most to be remembered. to be of the coarse stone of which my columns are made, that no one might be tempted hereafter to destroy it for the value of the materials . . . on the Die of the Obelisk might be engraved ‘Born Apr. 2, 1743 O.S. Died_____’.”

The O.S. indicates that his birth date was in the old style, which was in use until 1752, when we switched to the Gregorian calendar. This resulted in eleven days being added to historical dates, so Jefferson’s birthday was April 2 under the old style, and April 13 in the new calendar. Significantly, there was no mention of the presidency, which was apparently not a position for which Jefferson “wish[ed] to be remembered.”

The original tombstone was erected in 1833 and made of Vermont granite. The inscription was made on a marble slab affixed to the tombstone, not directly on the granite, as Jefferson had instructed. Regarding his request to use “coarse stone . . . that no one might be tempted hereafter to destroy if for the value of the materials,” unfortunately what he did not anticipate was that the tombstone would be damaged not for its material value but rather by souvenir hunters for its historic value. It was later written, “The monument was beaten and battered into a ruin by relic-hunters; even the inscription was beaten off, except the part that tells his birth and death.”8 But the inscription was not “beaten off”—to ensure that the entire tombstone was not destroyed, years earlier, Randolph had moved the marble slab to his home in Edgehill for safekeeping.

In 1837, a nine-foot brick wall with an iron gate was built around the graveyard, to protect it from vandalism and to allow visitors to see the grave. Over the following decades the cemetery deteriorated—the south wall crumbled away, the iron gates rusted shut, and shrubs and weeds obscured the gravestones, many of which were defaced and broken. In 1878, Congress proposed to replace Jefferson’s tombstone, but only under the condition that ownership of the graveyard would pass to the government. The family agreed but countered with their own stipulation that Jefferson’s remains would never be removed and the grandchildren and their spouses could also be buried there.9 The government did not accept these conditions. Four years later, in April 1882, a joint resolution of Congress provided $10,000 to create a new monument, this time without stipulations. Lieutenant Colonel Thomas L. Casey of the Corps of Engineers was placed in charge of the project. The eight-ton monument was built out of Virginia granite and had an inscription identical to the original. On October 22, 1883, Casey announced to Congress that the monument was completed and had come in below budget, at $8,852.83. Later that year, 10 horses pulled the massive monument to the grave site and set it in place.10
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Thomas Jefferson’s original grave marker, now on display in the Francis Quadrangle on the campus of the University of Missouri.

Requests poured in for the original tombstone, despite its battered condition. One such inquiry came from the president of the University of Missouri, Samuel Spahr Laws, and Alexander F. Fleet, a professor there. They offered two arguments—first was the state’s association with the Louisiana Purchase and Lewis and Clark’s exploration, and second was Jefferson’s passion for higher learning, as he founded Virginia State University. Laws presented his case to Jefferson’s heir, Mary B. Randolph, who granted the request but was bewildered that anyone would want the damaged hunk of rock: She wrote: “As Dr. Laws has seen the monument and knows its dilapidated condition, and still desires to place it in the grounds of the University of Missouri, thereby doing honor to Mr. Jefferson’s memory, we all agree it would be the best disposition to make of the old monument, and we will send the marble slab that has the inscription on it with the monument.”11

Laws and Fleet were elated. They didn’t consider the tombstone worthless, but saw the damage as “battle scars.” Fleet wrote, “I feel that that old monument is as much more valuable than the new, as the bullet-pierced and torn and soiled battle flag that has passed through the way is expressibly more precious because of its memories, than the most costly and elegant new one that could be presented.”12 The stone was officially presented to the university on July 4, 1883. Not everyone was thrilled with the decision, including Virginia residents, who believed their state university would have been more appropriate. The issue became so contentious that Fleet had to remove the stone from Monticello at night, under the cover of darkness.

In October 1901, 250 members of the Jefferson Club of St. Louis, Missouri, visited Monticello, bringing with them a memorial shaft made of red native granite that had the following inscription:

THOMAS JEFFERSON

CITIZEN STATESMAN PATRIOT

THE GREATEST ADVOCATE OF HUMAN LIBERTY,
OPPOSING SPECIAL PRIVILEGES, HE LOVED AND
TRUSTED THE PEOPLE.

TO COMMEMORATE HIS PURCHASE OF LOUISIANA

ERECTED BY THE JEFFERSON CLUB OF ST. LOUIS,
MO ON THEIR PILGRIMAGE OCT 12, 1901 TO
EXPRESS THEIR DEVOTION TO HIS PRINCIPLES13

Presenting the statue, Missouri Congressman Macaenas E. Benton said, “The first stone erected to Jefferson’s memory now stands on the campus of Missouri’s great state university. The Jefferson Club, for itself and the Missouri Democracy, presents to Virginia another.”14

Like Washington, Jefferson sits among the elite presidents in American history. Also like Washington, many envisioned Jefferson’s grave somewhere more prominent and accessible than his family cemetery. The first to propose relocating Jefferson’s remains was Virginia governor Henry Alexander Wise, who sought to create a Virginia “Presidents Cemetery” at Hollywood Cemetery in the 1850s, but was never able to fulfil his vision. In 1882, there was a proposal from the Glenwood Cemetery in Washington, DC. Jefferson’s granddaughter Septimia Anne Meikleham agreed, but as she was not mentioned in Jefferson’s will, her consent was “worth nothing.”15 In 1913, there began another effort to relocate his remains to Arlington National Cemetery. Fortifying the argument in favor of this was the neglected state of Monticello and the prospect that, at Arlington, Jefferson’s remains would be under the “perpetual care of the Government.”16
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Photograph of Jefferson’s grave, taken sometime between 1914 and 1918, when Jefferson Levy owned Monticello. (Library of Congress)

Jefferson’s family maintained the cemetery and, to deter vandals, they planted thorn bushes at strategic locations where someone could squeeze through the gates. However, the maintenance responsibility became too onerous for the family, and in 1913, 13 Jefferson descendants met in Charlottesville to form the “Monticello Graveyard Association,” drafting a constitution and choosing trustee members to care for the cemetery. This group still exists and is now known as the Monticello Association.

Over the years, several presidents have visited Jefferson’s home and grave. On June 17, 1903, President Theodore Roosevelt was in the area for the University of Virginia commencement ceremony and visited Monticello for a private tour.17 More than three decades later, on July 4, 1936, Franklin Delano Roosevelt followed in his footsteps. At 10:00 a.m., he spoke before 2,000 people. Immediately after his speech, Roosevelt visited the grave to lay a laurel wreath.18 Eleven years later, on July 4, 1947, President Harry S Truman gave a speech from Monticello in which he denounced the Soviet Union for not cooperating with the Marshall Plan. Afterward, he laid a wreath at the grave.19 On July 5, 1976, Gerald Ford swore in 100 newly naturalized citizens from 23 countries at Monticello. After the ceremony, he also visited the grave.20

On March 24, 1984, President Ronald Reagan and the First Lady took a helicopter ride from Washington, DC, for an unannounced “spring jaunt” to the historic home. They joined a group of about 20 people and were led by guide Elizabeth Jones. On January 17, 1993, three days before his inauguration, president-elect William Jefferson Clinton made a symbolic journey to the nation’s capital accompanied by vice president-elect Al Gore and their spouses, and he began at Monticello. Clinton, named in honor of Thomas Jefferson, wanted to follow in the footsteps of third president in his 1801 inauguration. After a tour of the home, they boarded a bus for the 121-mile trip to Washington, DC.21

On July 4, 2008, President George W. Bush spoke at a Monticello naturalization ceremony, welcoming 72 new American citizens before a crowd of 3,000.22 On February 10, 2014, President Barack Obama visited Monticello with his French counterpart, François Hollande, making Obama the first sitting president to visit with a foreign head of state.23

THE THOMAS JEFFERSON DEATH SITES

As with Washington, the significant sites relating to the death, funeral, and burial of Jefferson are all located in one place. Monticello may be the most recognizable of any presidential home—you may even have a pocketful of Monticellos right now, all worth 5¢ each! You may also live in the vicinity of one of several replicas of Monticello. In Paducah, Kentucky, at 1333 Lone Oak Road, a spinal surgeon’s office is located inside a facsimile of the famous home. In Monticello, Indiana, a replica is used as the main branch of the Lafayette Bank and Trust. In Colts Neck, New Jersey, a replica of Monticello serves as a private residence.24
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Monticello as it looks today. (Library of Congress)

Construction on Monticello (Italian for “little mountain”) began in 1768, and the unique 10,660-square-foot Roman neo-classical structure featured the first dome for any home in America. Jefferson moved in during a snowstorm on January 1, 1772, with his bride, Martha. Jefferson later wrote, “All my wishes end where I hope my days will end, at Monticello.”25

During the Revolutionary War, on June 4, 1781, Jefferson narrowly escaped when British soldiers tried to capture him at home. He evaded his pursuers by running down the mountain, and the British eventually took command of Monticello. It was saved from looting when a British officer nobly “ordered all private rooms to be locked and forbade any damage.”26

One can imagine the historic guests who visited Jefferson throughout his lifetime. One account places Jefferson at dinner with the two fellow Virginia natives who succeeded him, James Madison and James Monroe. He was also visited by our eighth president, Martin Van Buren. On November 4, 1824, an aging Marquis de Lafayette, suffering from gout and barely able to walk, paid a visit to Monticello. It was the first time he had seen Jefferson in 30 years, and afterward the old friends were joined by Madison.27

When Jefferson died, the home went to his daughter Martha and her husband, Thomas Mann Randolph Jr. The two had an unhappy marriage, and shortly afterward, Martha left her husband and took her children to Boston. While she was gone, the home remained unoccupied for much of the time and fell into ruin. Sightseers and tourists roamed freely, and souvenir hunters took what wasn’t nailed down. It became so bad that a year after Jefferson’s death, a visitor wrote that the home was “dark & much dilapidated with age & neglect.”28

Martha was unable to pay the debts she had inherited from her father and was forced to place the home for sale, seeking between $15,000 and $20,000.29 In 1831, the home and 273 acres of the property were purchased by James Turner Barclay of Staunton, Virginia, for only $4,700.30 Not included in his purchase was the graveyard, which Martha retained and passed on to her son Jeff Randolph upon her death in 1836. Barclay was not interested in preserving Jefferson’s home, and some accounts portray him as hating Jefferson. Barclay planned to use the estate to grow his silkworm business, and thus the home suffered greatly under his watch. But his business did not flourish and he grew irritated with the uninvited visitors. Five years later, he sold the estate to a Jewish navy officer, Uriah Phillips Levy, for only $2,500.31

Levy’s family would later contend that his purchase was inspired by admiration for the third president. Other fabrications and tall tales abound as to his rationale. One puts Levy on a train where he met a man planning to purchase Monticello on behalf of a group from Philadelphia. After the nameless Philadelphian got drunk and sidetracked, Levy seized the opportunity to purchase Monticello for himself. Years later, an apocryphal story emerged: in a meeting with President Andrew Jackson, Levy was told, “I understand a fellow intends to purchase [Monticello] and exhibit the tomb of the great ‘Apostle of Liberty’ at a shilling a head. It is to be sold on Tuesday.” Jackson ordered him, “Go down and buy it.” Levy protested and explained that he was more suited for the deep waters than the land. But Jackson would have none of it and told him, “That matters not,” before commanding, “Go and buy it.”32 Unfortunately, no proof exists of their ever meeting.

Levy did not live at Monticello year-round and left the daily oversight to Joel Wheeler, who moved into the home and opened it to anyone willing to pay him two bits. During the Civil War, the property had no protector like Mount Vernon, and Levy remained absent. The Confederate government seized Monticello as an alien property and camped in its vicinity. A reporter for Frank Leslie’s Illustrated Newspaper lamented, “During this unhappy rebellion [Monticello] has been confiscated, with all its lands, negroes, cattle, farming utensils, furniture, paintings, wines, etc.”33 Soldiers regularly chipped pieces off the home and tombstone and scrawled their names on the walls. When the Union seized the area, General William Tecumseh Sherman assigned guards to ensure it would suffer no further damage.

By late 1864, the Confederate government was in desperate need of money and forced to sell Monticello. An auction was held on November 17, and Confederate Lieutenant Colonel Benjamin Franklin Ficklin placed the winning bid of $80,500 (in Confederate dollars).34 The end of the Civil War brought confusion and debate as to the true owner of the home. Being on the losing side, Ficklin had no legal right to the property and it was confiscated. Levy had died in 1862, leaving the home to the federal government. Levy’s will was complicated and included a peculiar stipulation: “I give, devise, and bequeath my farm and estate at Monticello, in Virginia, formerly belonging to President Thomas Jefferson . . . for the sole and only purpose of establishing and maintaining at said farm of Monticello, Virginia, an agricultural school, for the purpose of educating, as practical farmers, children of the warrant officers of the United States navy, whose fathers are dead.”35 His family disputed the will, and with the confusion left by the Civil War and the complexities of Levy’s request, the government relinquished its rights and Monticello was transferred to Levy’s heirs. But the estate they inherited was severely neglected and had been ransacked by vandals. In 1866, a New York Times reporter bemoaned the home “a deserted ruin, its occupants being a freedman and his family” and “everything about the place is rapidly going to decay.”36

The Levy heirs put Monticello up for auction on March 20, 1879, and the winning bid of $10,050 was placed by the 27-year-old nephew of Uriah Phillips Levy, Jefferson Monroe Levy. Jefferson Levy put a stop to unwanted visitors traipsing through the home and allowed only those with a printed permit, and “a four-bit entrance fee” which went to local charities.37 For the most part, visitors were welcomed by him, “if the person is not a vandal,” but were requested to limit their stay to 20 minutes.38 Upon their arrival, “an old Negro, descendent of some of the original retainers at Monticello” opened the gate and rang a loud bell to notify the Levy family that visitors had arrived.39

Levy made substantial improvements to restore the home to its original appearance, investing thousands of dollars in renovations. His purchase also paved the way for the federal government to place a more suitable memorial at the grave, along with a new iron fence. This time there was no condition that ownership would transfer from the family. Concurrent to Levy’s restoration efforts, the nation’s attitudes about who should own historic properties—which some believed sacred—began to evolve.40 In 1897, the New York Sun published a controversial editorial by Congressman Amos Cummings entitled “A National Humiliation,” in which he attacked the current owner: “Monticello is now owned by a Levy, who charges patriotic Americans, Democrat and Republican, 25¢ admission to the grounds alone, and refuses admission to the house at any price during his absence.”41
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Monticello as it looked in 1906, when the home was owned by Jefferson Levy. (Library of Congress)

By 1912, the movement to turn the home over to the nation was led by New Yorker Maud Littleton, who had organized the Jefferson-Monticello Memorial Association. Three years earlier, she had visited Monticello. While her host was gracious, she was appalled that so little of Jefferson was represented in home and felt overwhelmed by the presence of the Levy family. She believed that Monticello should be preserved as a historic shrine to Jefferson. Levy, now an influential New York Congressman, did not want to sell. Littleton stated her case on Congressman Levy’s home turf, the House of Representatives floor, arguing persuasively that Monticello belonged to the entire nation, not just one man. Levy held his ground, doubling down on his hardline position and defiantly stating, “Every stone and every brick in the house of Jefferson, every tree, every nook and corner, every foot of Monticello is dear and sacred to me and never will I listen to any suggestion for disposing of it, whether coming from a private or public source.”42 As it turned out, “never” was about two years, and in 1914, in response to a letter from William Jennings Bryan, he finally agreed to sell Monticello.

Levy’s asking price was $500,000, which he considered a bargain as he had invested over $1,000,000 in repairs. His only stipulation was that Monticello be reserved as a home for the presidents to use as a retreat, similar to what Camp David would later became.43 The government thought Monticello was worth only $50,000 and Littleton conceded $200,000 was appropriate. Despite the initial momentum to purchase the house, by 1916 the government had left the debate and the sale began to lose steam.

Several groups formed to negotiate the purchase, including the Thomas Jefferson Memorial Association, led by Ruth Read Cunningham. She was following in the footsteps of her ancestor Ann Pamela Cunningham, who had founded the Mount Vernon Ladies’ Association and successfully acquired Washington’s home in 1858. On April 13, 1923, a second organization was formed, the Thomas Jefferson Foundation, headed by Stuart Gibboney, a Virginia native and New York resident. Gibboney’s group agreed to Levy’s original price of $500,000 and focused on fund-raising. They took ownership of the land through a $100,000 down payment made on December 1, 1923.44 The graveyard was not included in the sale and was formally deeded to Jefferson’s descendants. The group continued to raise money for the remainder of the payment through national subscription. However, the mortgage would not be completely paid off until 1940. In 1953 and 1954, Monticello was closed while major renovations were undertaken.

Monticello is located at 931 Thomas Jefferson Parkway, Charlottesville, Virginia, 22902. It is open 365 days a year. The hours vary throughout the seasons, so for the latest information visit: www.Monticello.org.

The Original Tombstone

On July 20, 1883, the battered tombstone arrived at the University of Missouri and was placed in a temporary location. Two years later it was unveiled on July 4, 1885, on the university campus near the entrance to Academic Hall.

In 1932, a marker was placed in front of the slab. It was moved around the campus several times over the years, most recently in 1976. Today, the stone sits in the Thomas Jefferson Garden in the Francis Quadrangle, where the St. Louis Dispatch noted it is “878 miles from where you’d expect to find it.” However, the tombstone is not complete. Upon its arrival in 1883, the 160 pound detached marble tablet was deemed too brittle to secure to the tombstone. It was broken in several spots, weathered, and the inscription faded and barely legible. The plaque was initially put on display in Academic Hall before it was packed away and later damaged in a building fire in 1892. Occasionally, it has been taken out for special events, but the last time was at the annual Tap Day sometime in the 1960s. It was again packed away in an attic where it remained for almost half a century. Recently, the Smithsonian has decided to restore the historic marble. As of this writing, their efforts are still in progress.45


THE SECOND PRESIDENT

John Adams [image: image] 1797–1801


CRITICAL DEATH INFORMATION:








	
Date of death:


	
July 4, 1826, 6:20 p.m.





	
Cause of death:


	
Heart failure due to “debility at the age of ninety”





	
Age at death:


	
90 years, 247 days





	
Last words:


	
“Help me, child, help me.”





	
Place of death:


	
Peacefield, Quincy, Massachusetts





	
Funeral:


	
First Congregational Church, Quincy, Massachusetts





	
Final resting place:


	
United First Parish Church, Quincy, Massachusetts





	
Reinterred:


	
Yes





	
Cost to visit grave:


	
Free (donation suggested)





	
For more information:


	
www.UFPC.org





	
Significance:


	
First president to be reinterred (1828, three years before George Washington), first buried outside of his home estate, and first funeral in a church
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As with his old friend Thomas Jefferson, John Adams desperately battled to survive to July 4, 1826, the 50th anniversary of the signing of the Declaration of Independence. His presence was in high demand, but at 90 years old, age had taken its toll and a public appearance was not possible. Adams had spent the years since his presidency at his beloved farm estate, Peacefield, in Quincy, Massachusetts; and now his physical ailments confined him to this home. On June 30, he was visited by a local delegation hoping for a few words to pass along at a local celebration. Adams was happy to oblige and barked a simple, powerful proclamation: “Independence Forever!”

By the next day, Adams was barely able to speak. He was treated at home by his doctor, Amos Holbrook, who remained with him until the end. Over the following days, Adams’s health declined and breathing became more difficult. When he awoke on July 4 to the celebratory sound of fireworks and cannons, he proclaimed, “It’s a great and glorious day!”1

Adams dozed as the day gave way to rain. In the afternoon he awoke and in a voice barely above a whisper, said “Thomas Jefferson survives.” Adams was wrong—unbeknownst to him, his fellow Founding Father died earlier that day. Like Jefferson’s “Is it the fourth?” many believe these to be his last words.2 These words would seem fitting for the lives of Adams and Jefferson, the two minds behind the Declaration of Independence, but the truth is perhaps more poignant, because these larger than life figures were human, and they were suffering. Sometime later, John Adams weakly uttered to his granddaughter Susanna, “Help me, child, help me,” and then fell silent. At 6:20 p.m., before sunset, John Adams died. His cause of death was listed as heart failure due to “debility at the age of 90”—in other words, old age. Exactly where Adams took his last breath is not certain. The National Park Service, which manages the home, is unsure if he died in his study or in the guest bedroom. Family members would later recall with amazement that at the exact moment he died, “a clap of thunder shook the house,” and then “a splendid rainbow arched immediately over the heavens.”3
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Peacefield, the home where John Adams died, is now part of the Adams National Historical Park.

While over 26 years separated our first and second presidential deaths (Washington and Jefferson), a mere five and a half hours separated the second and third. The 1919 Encyclopedia Americana called the nearly simultaneous deaths of Jefferson and Adams “the most remarkable necrological coincidence in the history of our country!”4 That extraordinary coincidence soon became so ingrained in the national consciousness that, in remarks made after the dual victories of Vicksburg and Gettysburg on July 4, 1863, Abraham Lincoln included it when he evoked other historic events that had occurred on the same glorious date.5 Adams’s death also had another distinction: at 90 years old, he lived longer than any other president, a record held for a staggering 178 years, only to be surpassed when Ronald Reagan died at the age of 93. (Reagan would be topped by Gerald Ford two years later.)

On July 7, family and friends gathered at Peacefield for Adams’s funeral. Commencing at 4:00 p.m., the funeral procession was led by the citizens of Quincy, followed by the pallbearers flanking the hearse, including Harvard University president John T. Kirkland, Massachusetts governor Levi Lincoln Jr., and Lieutenant Governor Thomas L. Winthrop. According to the official order of procession printed in newspapers across the country, next came his male relatives, various local politicians, city officials, scholars, members of the clergy and military, and then, “strangers.” Trailing behind were 12 mourning coaches, carrying female relatives.6 During the half-mile procession, guns boomed in tribute from nearby Mount Wallaston.

At the First Congregational Church, the coffin was carried inside. Four thousand people were in attendance. However, one notable person was not there: Adams’s son and the current president of the United States, John Quincy Adams—who was not yet even aware that his father had died! Several days later, still unaware that his father had died, John Quincy Adams departed Washington, DC, for Peacefield. When his carriage stopped in Baltimore on July 9, five days after his father’s death, he was finally informed of the news.7

The officiating pastor was Reverend Peter Whitney, who read an appropriate verse from 1 Chronicles: “He died in good old age, full of days.”8 After the funeral, the coffin was carried across the street and placed in a tomb in Hancock Cemetery. As it was a temporary burial location, the tomb was not marked. Adams’s permanent burial site was to be underneath the unbuilt United First Parish Church. Before his death, Adams was intimately involved in the project and had donated the land and granite to be used in the construction. He left money for the completion of the project in his will.
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The temporary tomb used by both John Adams and his son John Quincy Adams. In the background is the United First Parish Church, more commonly known as the “Church of the Presidents,” where the remains of both men now reside in the basement crypt.

Shortly after Adams’s death, his son purchased space within the church that was to be built across the street from Hancock Cemetery. The deed was for a “portion of soil in the cellar, situated under the porch and containing fourteen feet in length and fourteen feet in breadth.”9 On September 8, 1826, John Quincy Adams wrote the supervisors of the church with more specifics, in which he conveyed his father’s request that “at my expense, a vault or tomb may be constructed under the temple, where may be deposited the mortal remains of the late John Adams and of Abigail, his beloved and only wife” and that it be a “plain and modest monument to his memory . . . divested of all ostentation.”10 Being entombed within a church was an honor that dated back to the earliest English settlements, a distinction reserved for priests, ministers, and the most influential congregants. For John Adams, our second president and a significant donor toward the church’s construction, the honor was well deserved.11

Two years later, construction had progressed enough to move the bodies from the unmarked graves to the basement of the church. John and Abigail Adams were reinterred on April 1, 1828, into granite coffins cut from stone quarried from Quincy, Massachusetts.12

Eleven years before he died, Adams had written his own epitaph. He believed avoiding war with France was the crowning achievement of his presidency and wrote that his gravestone should read: HERE LIES JOHN ADAMS, WHO TOOK UPON HIMSELF THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE PEACE WITH FRANCE IN THE YEAR 1800.13 In the end, the inscription on his tomb was much more austere, reading JOHN ADAMS. Adams would later be joined by his son, John Quincy Adams, who died in 1848 and was interred in the crypt in 1852. In 1900, 89 members of the John Adams Chapter of the Daughters of the American Revolution placed a marble plaque at the entrance to the tomb.14

THE JOHN ADAMS DEATH SITES

While not quite as convenient as visiting Mount Vernon or Monticello, it is still easy to tour all of the significant sites related to John Adams’s death in Quincy, Massachusetts. Differing from Washington and Jefferson, who were given funeral and burial rites on their home estates, Adams had more traditional final ceremonies: a funeral in a church and burial in a local cemetery.

Location of Death

The home where Adams died was first built in 1731 and was used as a summer home to West Indian sugar plantation owner Major Leonard Vassall. Just like Mount Vernon, Adams’s home started out as a small structure of only seven rooms and eventually grew to 21. After Vassall died, the home went to his daughter, Anna. She moved to Cambridge, Massachusetts, in 1765 and leased the home to tenant farmers for the next decade. By the mid-1770s, Quincy, Massachusetts was at the heart of the brewing Revolutionary War. Anna, a loyalist, felt threatened by the patriots and left the colonies for England in 1775, leaving the home vacant. During this period, the National Park Service contends the home fell into “dubious legal status.” To protect it from destruction, the governor of Massachusetts ordered the home confiscated. He stayed there for two weeks in 1775 and also used it to shelter refugees fleeing Boston. After the war, Anna returned to reclaim her estate and eventually gave it to her son, Leonard Vassall Borland.

In 1787, Adams was approaching the end of his time in Europe serving as ambassador to England and the Netherlands. Having accumulated furniture, books, and numerous other items during his sojourn, he was concerned that his current home, a small saltbox structure, was not large enough. To accommodate his new possessions and fulfill his dream of a simple farmer’s lifestyle, he purchased the 76 acre estate for £600 on September 26, 1787.

When Adams returned to America the following year, he moved into his new home where he took pleasure in farming the land and walking the grounds. In a tribute to the peace that followed the Revolutionary War, he named the home “Peacefield.” Adams was living there when he was elected the nation’s first vice president and second president. After losing his reelection bid to Thomas Jefferson, he returned to Peacefield in 1801 to live the remainder of his years. He built a long room for entertaining guests, among them James Monroe, Ralph Waldo Emerson, and General Marquis de Lafayette in 1824.15

After Adams’s death, the home went to John Quincy Adams. He did not live in the home year-round like his father but retained ownership until his own death on February 23, 1848. The home then went to his son, Charles Francis Adams, and his wife, Abigail, who transformed the property into a “gentleman’s country estate.”16 They owned Peacefield for 41 years, until 1889. Through 1927, the home was owned by Charles’s son Brooks and his wife Evelyn Adams, but as they aged they sold off parcels for development. The once-sprawling homestead was now more confined. To preserve and care for the historic property after his death, Brooks Adams established the Adams Memorial Society on March 28, 1927. The group took ownership of the home that same year and held it until 1946, when it was donated to the federal government and the Adams National Historic Site was established. As a result of the long lineage of Adams owners, the home contains many original pieces that belonged to the family.17

The home is located at 135 Adams Street, Quincy, Massachusetts, 02169. You can only visit by taking a tour, and tickets are available at the Adams National Historical Park visitor center in downtown Quincy. For more information, visit: www.nps.gov/adam.

Original Cemetery: Hancock Cemetery

John Adams was originally buried in Hancock Cemetery, located across the street from the United First Parish Church and next door to City Hall in downtown Quincy. Founded in the 1630s, this would serve as the main cemetery in Quincy for the next two centuries. The oldest surviving gravestone is from 1666, for Reverend William Thompson, and the first person to be placed in a burial crypt was Dr. Leonard Hoar in 1675. Until the early 19th century, horses and cattle freely cavorted throughout the cemetery, meandering among the headstones and grazing on the grass. Thankfully, that ended in 1809 when a group of citizens, including Adams, purchased the land and donated it to Quincy with the condition that “the town shall never hereafter allow the said burial ground to be used as a pasture or any horse or cattle to run at large therein.”18 The crypt used by John Adams abuts the front wall of the cemetery. Above the entrance is the inscription “J. Q. Adams,” as the crypt was also used by his son two decades later. Behind it, the stone wall is crumbling with age and the entrance has been sealed with bricks. Several Adams family member remains are still inside, including John and Abigail’s daughter, Nabby; and John Quincy’s sons, George and John.

On January 28, 1982, the cemetery was placed on the National Register of Historic Places (#82004421). It is located at 1307 Hancock Street, Quincy, Massachusetts, 02169. For more information, visit: www.QuincyMA.gov/Government/PLANNING/HistoricHancockCemetery.cfm.

Funeral

The First Congregational Church was built as a small wooden meeting house in 1732 and expanded in 1806 to accommodate the growing congregation. It served the community until its final service on October 12, 1828. Later that year, it was torn down and the congregation moved to the newly completed United First Parish Church.19

Church: The Entombment Site

The church where Adams is entombed was designed by Alexander Parrish and has been called “the finest example of a Greek revival church in New England.”20 The money for construction was donated by both Adams presidents and was built using land and granite donated by John Adams. The only portion of the church the Adamses did not fund was the front four massive columns. The cornerstone was laid on June 11, 1827, with Reverend Peter Whitney addressing the crowd in attendance. Construction took over a year and cost $30,488.56. To help fund the endeavor, pews were sold, and today’s visitors can sit in Pew 54, purchased and used by John Quincy Adams for two decades. The church was dedicated on November 12, 1828, seven months after Adams was reinterred in the basement.21 Over the years, the United First Parish Church has gone by various monikers, including “The Stone Church,” “The Stone Temple,” “The Church of the Presidents,” and “The Adams Temple.”

In the 19th century, while tourists flocked to Mount Vernon to see Washington’s tomb and Monticello to see Jefferson’s grave, the final resting place of Adams was poorly maintained and closed to the public. In 1881, it was written that the tombs were “dingy and dirty.”22 It was not until 1891, 63 years after John Adams’s interment, that the tombs were opened to the public. However, the experience was not a gratifying one for the rare visitor. After opening a creaky granite door, one would be confronted by an iron gate blocking their entrance and limiting their view of the crypt. To make the tombs more visitor-friendly, Charles Francis Adams helped fund improvements in 1903.
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A 1908 photograph of the United First Parish Church in Quincy, Massachusetts. The Adamses’ crypt is beneath the church. (Library of Congress)

Several presidents visited the church in the 20th century, notably all while they were still in office. The first to visit was President William Howard Taft in 1910, while in Quincy to see an air show at the dawn of the aviation age. On July 15, 1925, President Calvin Coolidge and First Lady Grace entered the church basement and stood in silence for several minutes.23 President Franklin Roosevelt stopped by the front of the church on October 21, 1936, but did not make it down to see the tomb. Just a week before the 1948 election, President Harry S Truman made a campaign speech on the church steps.24

The crypt was temporarily closed due to lack of funds in April 1999. After Massachusetts secretary of state William F. Galvin pledged $15,000 toward operating costs, the room reopened to visitors several weeks later.25 The church was listed on the National Register of Historic Places (#70000734) on December 30, 1970. It is located at 1306 Hancock Street in Quincy, Massachusetts, 02169. For more information, visit: www.UFPC.org.

PERSONAL NOTE

In my research, I came across a fascinating article from the Spokesman Review (August 23, 1921) that revealed an amazing discovery made by Quincy mayor Joseph Whiton. At the end of his term, Whiton was cleaning out his desk when he found a 95-year-old letter written by John Quincy Adams, dated September 8, 1826. John Quincy Adams wrote the five supervisors of the soon-to-be-built United First Parish Church to express his father’s request that a basement be built for his mortal remains. The find was a historical treasure, written by one president detailing the requests of another.26 While finding the letter is amazing in its own right, an event that occurred 89 years later is what made this extraordinary. After being lost for almost a century, the letter was again misplaced. On April 21, 2010, CBS news reported in a nearly identically worded article that the current Quincy mayor, Thomas P. Koch, “discovered” the same letter while working in the City Hall basement, proving that history does indeed repeat itself!27 I wrote the mayor to let him know of my findings and received a gracious reply.


THE FIFTH PRESIDENT

James Monroe [image: image] 1817–1825


CRITICAL DEATH INFORMATION:








	
Date of death:


	
July 4, 1831, 3:30 p.m.





	
Cause of death:


	
Heart failure





	
Age at death:


	
73 years, 67 days





	
Last words:


	
“I regret that I should leave this world without again beholding him.”





	
Place of death:


	
His daughter’s home, New York City, New York





	
Funeral:


	
St. Paul’s Chapel, New York City, New York





	
Final resting place:


	
Hollywood Cemetery, Richmond, Virginia





	
Reinterred:


	
Yes





	
Cost to visit grave:


	
Free





	
For more information:


	
www.HollywoodCemetery.org





	
Significance:


	
First to die outside of birth state, first not to die in his own home, and first death home that no longer exists
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After retiring from the presidency in 1825, James Monroe moved to his Oak Hill estate in Loudoun County, Virginia. Like George Washington, Thomas Jefferson, and John Adams before him, he wished to live out the rest of his days in his familial home. However, Monroe fell on hard financial times and, after his wife Elizabeth died on September 23, 1830, it was no longer possible for him to remain in his home. He left Oak Hill for New York City, to the three-story home of his daughter Maria and his son-in-law, New York postmaster Samuel L. Gouverneur. Gouverneur had served as Monroe’s private secretary, and his marriage to Maria in March of 1820 was the first wedding to take place in the White House.1

In New York, Monroe attempted to lead a quiet existence, partaking in “common chores,” such as grocery shopping at the Centre Market, “where all the stallmen knew and honored him.”2 For the most part, he was just another aged citizen of New York and kept out of public affairs. But as a former president, he had a difficult time roaming the streets incognito and, shortly after arriving, was cajoled into presiding over a ceremony celebrating the downfall of France’s king, Charles X.3 When Monroe turned 73, his health quickly worsened and he was attended by the Gouverneurs’ family physician, Dr. Berger.4 He was visited toward the end of his life by former president John Quincy Adams. Shortly before his death, Monroe spoke of his predecessor, James Madison, and lamented, “I regret that I should leave this world without again beholding him.” Those were Monroe’s last words. At 3:30 p.m. on July 4, 1831, James Monroe died of heart failure. His friend, General Winfield Scott, was by his side and gently closed Monroe’s eyes.5

Amazingly, Monroe became the third consecutive president to die on Independence Day, following Adams’s and Jefferson’s near-simultaneous death five years earlier. Monroe’s passing also represented a seismic shift in presidential death history, for he did not pass away in the comfort of his ancestral home, following the script of his predecessors. If luck had gone Monroe’s way, he would have died in Oak Hill and been buried on the grounds. Had that happened, the story of his life after his death would not have been nearly as fascinating.

For several days after Monroe’s death, the Richmond Enquirer reported, “many friends . . . called to look upon the remains of the good and great man.”6 The president was placed in a mahogany coffin with the simple inscription on a silver plate, JAMES MONROE OF VIRGINIA, DIED 4TH JULY 1831; AGED 74 YEARS. Years later, Gouverneur would explain that the “of Virginia” portion of the inscription indicated Monroe’s wish was to be reinterred in his birth state at a later date.7

The funeral was held on Thursday, July 7. The coffin was placed in a hearse covered in black cloth with touches of gold, topped by four black feathers that waved gently in the breeze. The caisson was pulled by four black horses and escorted by a military honor guard along with pallbearers on either side. On the left were the Honorable Samuel L. Southard of New Jersey, Colonel Richard Varick, naval officer John Ferguson, and former member of the House of Representatives, John Watts. On the right were the famous artist Colonel John Trumbull, New Jersey governor Aaron Ogden, US Marshal Thomas Morris, and the Honorable David Brooks.

The procession left the home at approximately 3:00 p.m. and proceeded down Broadway to City Hall. The coffin was placed on a platform in front of the building, and at 4:00 p.m. the president of Columbia College, William Alexander Duer, addressed the crowd. The procession then continued to St. Paul’s Trinity Church for the funeral ceremony, officiated by Bishop Benjamin T. Onderdonk and Dr. Jonathan Mayhew Wainwright. Afterward, the procession, led by General James Morton, marched to the cemetery. The parade stretched for a staggering three miles, and 100,000 people lined the route.

The procession included public and fraternal societies and marched up Broadway to Bleecker Street, where military lined each side to pay respects to the former commander in chief. It continued to Second Street to the Marble Cemetery, where a large crowd had gathered.8 For a former president, the whole scene did not seem right. It was a small cemetery in a strange city and his remains were placed in a $500 shared crypt that Gouverneur had purchased some time ago. Monroe did not even receive a dedicated tombstone. Inscribed on the two-square-foot Tuckahoe marble slab was:

JAMES MONROE

ROBERT TILLOTSON

VAULT NO. 147

To conclude the ceremony, soldiers fired three volleys over the grave. Monroe was now the first president buried outside his birth state and the first buried in a different location from his wife, who was buried at Oak Hill.

It was later written that “His funeral was a very imposing one—the largest that at the time had ever been seen in New York.”9 However, after the magnificent send-off, the grave succumbed to the ravages of neglect as New Yorkers quickly forgot that a former president was buried in their proverbial, and literal, backyard. After 25 years, the New York Times brought this to the public’s attention in 1856: “It is a curious neglect that leaves the precious dust of one of the purest patriots that our country has been blest with, to rest in such obscurity. Thousands pass every day by the spot admiring the well-kept grounds, pausing for the fragrance of the flowering shrubs, listening to the songs of the birds that find this oasis in the city’s desert, but never dreaming that the author of the Monroe Doctrine, the President of the United States, lies within a few feet of them. Monuments to men of half his intellectual stature, and a tithe of his industry and goodness of heart, are going up all over the land. Shall he who was reelected to the presidency by a vote unanimous with a single exception and who never disgraced his position have no more than this?”10
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New York’s Marble Cemetery as it looks today.

When news of the grave’s condition reached Virginia, there began a movement to have the remains transported back to his native state. Around the same time in 1857, a group of Virginians living in New York sought a less complex tribute—to erect a monument over Monroe’s vault. The effort was led by Dr. A. Jones, who had known Monroe personally and felt that his grave deserved a better memorial than a grass-covered slab. Jones wrote to Virginia governor Henry Alexander Wise to notify him that an appropriate monument would be placed over Monroe’s remains in New York. The news caused an uproar, and Governor Wise acted quickly to push through a resolution to have the body returned to Virginia soil. It was passed on April 6, 1858, with an appropriation of $2,000 for the effort.11

Once the resolution was passed, there was little resistance. In New York, a committee was formed to take Monroe home with the proper ceremony, pomp, and spectacle, and the city allocated $2,500 toward the effort.12 An announcement and call for volunteers for the “Removal of President James Monroe’s Remains” was posted in the New York newspapers on June 1. Soon afterward, it was discovered that there were unpaid bills on the vault “of many years standing.”13 How the debts were settled is unknown, but perhaps a portion of the New York monetary allocation was used for that purpose. The first meeting of volunteers was held on June 3 at 8:00 p.m. at the Metropolitan Hotel. Despite the short notice, a large crowd of Virginia expatriates attended. A reinterment date of July 5, 1858, was set. With only a month to prepare, what the group was able to coordinate was truly impressive.

The committee also consulted Monroe’s son-in-law Samuel L. Gouverneur, who made one request: that the removal of the body be done as discreetly as possible. After 27 years he knew that the task would not be pleasant due to the “long period during which the remains have moldered in the tomb [and] the season of the year.”14

At 4:30 a.m. on July 2, a small group gathered at Marble Cemetery. People were aware that the removal of Monroe’s remains was pending, but the time and date had been kept secret and even the press was left uninformed to avoid a crowd. Gouverneur, along with other surviving relatives—the former president’s namesake nephew, former congressman James Monroe, and grandson Samuel L. Gouverneur Jr. were in attendance. Shortly before 5:00 a.m., the vault doors were opened and the coffin was removed. It was found to be in “excellent preservation, the only decay visible being the wearing away of the bright polish of the mahogany.”15 It was placed on the grass for a few moments, and at 5:15 a.m. undertaker Henry Wilson arrived with the new coffin. The men pried open the 27-year-old coffin, and the body, which had been buried before the advent of embalming, was transferred, by all accounts, with respect, decorum, and reverence. The remains were discreetly carted down Broadway to the Church of the Annunciation located on West 14th Street.
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“Exhuming the Remains of President Monroe at the Second Street Cemetery,” from Harper’s Weekly, 1858. (Library of Congress)

A procession was scheduled to start at 4:00 p.m., but around noon people started gathering outside the church and along Broadway to secure a good spot. As the sidewalks filled, police arrived to maintain order. At 3:00 p.m., the church doors were opened. There was no service or sermon; instead, the time was used for citizens to view the coffin. In just over one hour, a staggering 10,000 people shuffled past. The colorful church sexton, Mr. Brown, kept the crowd moving. When some stopped too long, he chided, “Pass on, pass on, my friend, you can read it tomorrow.” To the mourner wearing glasses, Brown bellowed, “Seventy-four years of age, my man, mind that; and who knows but you’ll remember it all your life!” and then to his friend standing next to him, he confided, “I was told something like that when I was a boy, and I remember it yet.”16

Shortly after 4:00 p.m., the coffin was loaded into a glass hearse; 45 minutes later, the funeral procession began. The massive group that marched down Broadway to City Hall was led by various military units, including several regiments from the New York State Militia. The soldiers were followed by the funeral car, adorned with black and white plumage and tassels and pulled by eight gray horses. Following the hearse were 10 carriages with dignitaries and an astounding 33 honorary pallbearers, one for each state of the union. Next were family members, followed by a contingent of military representatives, including 101 aged veterans from the War of 1812. Just like today, the placement in the parade is commensurate with the significance of the marchers, and toward the end were state and local politicians and dignitaries and, pulling up the rear, the “Masters of vessels in the Port of New York.” The participants stretched on for two thirds of a mile, passing crowds on the streets, in the windows, and on rooftops. Flags were at half-mast, church bells rang, and minute guns were fired.

The procession arrived at City Hall at 6:00 p.m. and the remains were placed in the Governor’s Room. After an official inspection, the doors were closed. The responsibility of honor guard was assigned to Company C of the Eighth Regiment under the command of Captain Burger, who delegated 10 soldiers to watch over the remains in two-hour shifts. The New York Times reported the “affair was admirably conducted.”17 Once the crowds dispersed and the soldiers were left alone, the admirable conduct ended and the party started! The soldiers broke out bottles and proceeded to have a drunken celebration, entertaining each other with mock speeches and eulogies for the former commander in chief. The next morning, they were found passed out amid a mess of broken furniture and empty bottles.18 At 6:00 a.m., Company C was relieved by a sober Company F of the Eighth Regiment under Captain Buck. After the room was cleaned, people began to file in to pay their last respects until 11:00 a.m., when 500 members of the National Guard arrived for the ceremony in which New York City mayor Daniel Fawcett Tiemann was to officially transfer the remains to Congressman John Cochrane and thereby end the viewing period. There was one problem: Cochrane was nowhere to be found! That didn’t stop the creative Mayor Tiemann. Pressed for time, he “concluded to deliver his address to an imaginary John Cochrane, and accordingly looking at the vacancy, spoke,” according to the New York Times. Once the speech was completed, the National Guard presented arms, drums rolled, and the coffin was placed into a hearse. It rode down Broadway to Liberty Street to the North River, led by eight white horses and African American grooms.
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Scene from the public viewing in New York City Hall, from Harper’s Weekly, 1858. (Library of Congress)

An impressive 5,000 people waited at Pier 13 on the North River to see the coffin taken aboard the steamboat Jamestown to be brought to Richmond. Mayor Tiemann made another speech, and by this time, Congressman Cochrane had reappeared. If he was to hear one of Tiemann’s speeches, he chose the right one. Tiemann was eloquent and concluded with “Virginia, mother, it is thus that New York gives back to you your son.”19 This vignette of cooperation and respect between states north and south of the Mason-Dixon Line was one of the last gestures of national civility before the Civil War began in 1861.

At 3:30 p.m. the Jamestown set sail, while the Seventh Regiment, the official escorts, followed on a separate ship, the Ericsson, spending their time playing cards, “stag dancing,” smoking cigars, and drinking brandy before retiring to straw mattresses strewn on the deck.20 The next day, the Jamestown arrived at Norfolk, Virginia, and was greeted by flags at half-mast and salutary gunfire. The first speech was delivered by Norfolk mayor William Wilson Lamb. Afterward, the crew of the Jamestown accepted an invitation to imbibe “a good old fashioned Virginia mint-julep.”21

At 8:30 a.m. on Monday, July 5, the Jamestown arrived at Richmond, where thousands of people crammed the docks to greet the ship.22 Governor Wise and the mayor of Richmond, Joseph C. Mayo, boarded to formally accept the remains, and the Seventh Regiment was officially relieved by a platoon of Richmond Grays led by Captain Elliot. In preparation for this day, a Richmond committee met to determine how to commemorate the reinterment, but they scheduled no viewings or services. At 11:30 a.m., six white horses, each accompanied by a “colored groom,” led a procession to Hollywood Cemetery. Bands played, drums rolled, guns fired, and flags flew at half-mast as the journey began up Main Street to Second to Cary Street before arriving at the cemetery at 1:00 p.m. At the cemetery, Governor Wise made a speech in which he praised Monroe and thanked his guests. In his long-winded address, he insinuated the initial burial was part of some master plan: “New York gave to him a ‘hospitable grave.’ Virginia respectfully allowed his ashes to lie long enough to consecrate her sister’s soil, and now has dutifully taken them to be ‘earth to her earth and ashes to her ashes,’ at home in the land of his cradle.”23 A final prayer was delivered by Reverend Charles H. Read of the United Presbyterian Church before the coffin was lowered five feet into a brick and granite vault. Three salvos were fired to officially end the formalities.

That night there were parties aboard the Jamestown and the Ericsson. The two ships were latched together and connected by a plank. Unbeknownst to the rest of the passengers, a young soldier named Laurens Hamilton, Alexander Hamilton’s grandson, fell overboard and drowned (perhaps crossing between ships after a few drinks). The ships set sail, and when he was later not found on board, it was assumed he was still in Richmond and would return by train. Later, his body was discovered and the tragedy became apparent.24

Above Monroe’s grave was placed an eight-by-four foot block of polished Virginia marble plaque, upon which was inscribed:

JAMES MONROE

BORN IN WESTMORELAND COUNTY 28 APRIL, 1758.
DIED IN THE CITY OF NEW YORK 4 JULY, 1831.
BY ORDER OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY

HIS REMAINS WERE REMOVED TO THIS CEMETERY 5 JULY, 1858.
AS AN EVIDENCE OF THE AFFECTION OF VIRGINIA

FOR HER GOOD AND HONORED SON

On the other side:

JAMES MONROE

GOVERNOR OF VIRGINIA 1799 TO 1802, 1811

PRESIDENT OF THE U.S., 1817 TO 1825

However, you will not see this one today—it was later stolen and never recovered.25

The next year, an ornate iron structure was erected above the tomb, designed by Albert Lybrock, who was inspired by the grave of Heloise and Abelard in the Père Lachaise cemetery in Paris.26 The peculiar structure was cast by the Philadelphia company Wood and Perot for $1,682. It was designed to protect the grave from further vandalism, which was a concern after the rear plate was stolen, while still allowing the tomb to be viewed by the public.27 Regardless of its noble influence, most feel it looks like a birdcage—and it is definitely one of the oddest presidential graves. The National Register of Historic Places calls it a “flamboyant Gothic Revival Style,” which is a huge understatement.28 Shortly after its construction, Monroe’s tomb fell into disrepair. An 1881 article in the Utah Journal lamented, “The temple is painted [a] drab color and sanded. The iron is considerably rusted.”29

On December 2, 1923, there was a grand ceremony at the grave site to mark the 100th anniversary of the Monroe Doctrine. The event was led by Virginia governor E. Lee Trinkle, William Jennings Bryan spoke, and soldiers from all branches of the military were in attendance. The grave was piled high with flowers, and more were dropped from low-flying planes, followed by a 21-gun salute by the Richmond Howitzers.30 Almost a half century later, the tomb of James Monroe was given a unique honor when it was designated a National Historic Landmark (#71001044) on November 11, 1971. While other graves have been designated as national historic treasures, they are grand and imposing tombs that one can enter (such as Lincoln’s and Garfield’s), but Monroe’s is the only traditional grave to be given this honor.
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The peculiar tomb of James Monroe in Hollywood Cemetery, located in Richmond, Virginia. (Library of Congress)

THE JAMES MONROE DEATH SITES

Location of Death

Before Monroe, the homes where the presidents died were ancestral estates—Mount Vernon, Peacefield, and Monticello. The history of the house where Monroe died is much more interesting because it was obscure and so few people cared what happened to it.

The home was located in New York, at 63 Prince Street, in what is now a bustling part of Manhattan. Originally a farm, it was owned by Nicholas Bayard, who passed it on to his son when he died in 1765, along with a mountain of debt. To help settle his father’s bills, his son began to sell off parcels of land. In 1771, he sold 400 lots to Phillip Livingston, which included the plot that would become 63 Prince Street.31 Fifty-one years later, the lot where Monroe would die was owned by Phillip Brasher. In 1822, Gouverneur, husband of the president’s daughter, purchased a plot from Brasher for $2,159.32 He built a three-story home the following year, which at the time was considered ostentatious for what was one of the most exclusive streets in Manhattan. After Monroe’s death, the home was sold to Miles R. Burke for $10,750 on April 16, 1832. Burke sold it to John Ferguson three years later for $12,000. The Ferguson family owned the home for almost four decades, eventually selling to Charles H. Contolt, owner of Contolt’s Gardens Resort, in 1873.33 Posters and advertisements were plastered on the walls; the side was painted with “McCann’s Celebrated Hats” and the front with “Billiard Table Factory.”34 Contolt died in 1897, and his estate continued to own the home for the next three years. In February 1900, it was sold it at auction to Daniel F. Mahoney, along with several other buildings for $116,500.35

For all of these years, the home stood unrecognized and unmemorialized as it slowly deteriorated. In a city saturated with history, probably not one in a thousand that walked past it knew of its significance. That would change on April 28, 1905, when the Women’s Auxiliary to the American Scenic and Historic Preservation Society affixed a commemorative tablet to the home and staged a grand dedication. Prayers were read by Reverend W. Montague Geer of St. Paul’s Church—where 74 years earlier James Monroe’s funeral had been held—and a military band from Governor’s Island entertained the crowd of thousands. The guest speaker was Ulysses S. Grant’s son, Frederick, and after he spoke, Monroe’s great-great-grandson unveiled the plaque.36

The marker read:

IN THIS HOUSE DIED JAMES MONROE FIFTH
PRESIDENT OF THE UNITED STATES, WHO
PROCLAIMED THE MONROE DOCTRINE. UPON
WHICH DEPENDS THE FREEDOM OF THE AMERICAN
REPUBLICS AND THE SAFETY OF THE UNITED
STATES AGAINST FOREIGN AGGRESSION.

BORN APRIL 28, 1758. DIED JULY 4, 1831
SOLDIER IN THE CONTINENTAL ARMY,
MEMBER OF THE CONTINENTAL CONGRESS,
AMERICAN ENVOY TO GREAT BRITAIN, FRANCE AND SPAIN,
NEGOTIATOR OF THE LOUISIANA PURCHASE,
SECRETARY OF STATE,
SECRETARY OF WAR.
TWICE GOVERNOR OF VIRGINIA,
TWICE PRESIDENT OF THE UNITED STATES.

THIS TABLET IS ERECTED BY THE WOMEN’S AUXILIARY
TO THE AMERICAN SCENIC AND HISTORIC
PRESERVATION SOCIETY. APRIL 28, 1905

The marker is unique in that it highlights the site as the place of his death. However, the high placement made it difficult to read. At this time, the home was being used by multiple businesses, including a Jewish restaurant owned by Samuel Greensching and a rag dealer, Vessa and Deddata.37 The home was also used as a boarding house for a time.

In October 1919, it was announced that the home would be put up for auction; by now the room where Monroe had died was being used as a carpenter’s shop. Concurrently, the site where Theodore Roosevelt was born, located just over a mile north, was being rebuilt, leading historic preservations societies to hope the same could be done for the Monroe home. Letters to the editor flooded in to city newspapers, including one to the New York Times from a local member of the American Legion, bemoaning that they lacked the funds to use part of the home as a clubhouse.38 In an editorial, the prestigious newspaper appealed to New York pride and patriotism in making a plea to save the house: “Had Mr. Monroe been a French-man the house where he died would have been made a national monument.”39 In the end, capitalism trumped preservation. On November 12, 1919, the auction was held on Vesey Street, with the bids starting at $100,000. When the auctioneer called the bidding to an end, Joseph B. Cronin of the Charles N. Noyes Company owned the home for $138,000.40

Four years later, as the home hit its 100th year, it had again fallen on hard times and sat abandoned by its legitimate tenants. Instead, it was used by “a gang as a poker club,” by “waste paper dealers,” and by “junk men,” but that may have been a euphemism for people dumping trash in the home.41 It also became mysteriously prone to fires, which broke out on October 4, 1922, February 28, 1923, and again on May 4, 1923. Thankfully some people were not ready to give up on it yet. In December of 1922, a group led by civic-minded people—including as honorary president New York governor Al Smith and members Richard E. Enright, former police commissioner Henry E. Fruhauf, and former secretary of state Robert Lansing—incorporated the James Monroe Memorial Association and Foundation (known as the Monroe Home Association). Their goal was to purchase the home and restore it to how it looked when Monroe lived there, creating a “Pan-American shrine to stand through the centuries to come as a memorial to unselfish international amity and a fitting monument to the memory of the great good-will President of the United States.” They set a goal to raise $200,000, of which a third would be used to purchase the home, a third to refurnish it, and the remainder to “establish a $100,000 annual lecture foundation for spreading through schools, colleges and communities the ideals of Pan-American friendship and accord.”42 The group added prestige to their roster when President Warren G. Harding was named an honorary officer. They set a goal of completing their vision within a year, to coincide with the 100th anniversary of the signing of the Monroe Doctrine.

Over the next year they were unable to raise sufficient funds, and by 1924, the home was a shell of its former self, with all of the fine interior woodwork either destroyed or pilfered. On May 7, 1925, the dilapidated home was sold not to preservationists but to developers, who planned to demolish the building to make way for a factory.43 Nearly three months later, on July 29, 1925, a bale of newspapers in the home erupted into flames, the fifth fire in two years.44

Some good news came for the decrepit old home in September 1925, when the Monroe Home Association secured a deal to purchase it. There was a catch: they would need to move the house. The location they chose was around the corner, at 95 Crosby Street, where a one-story ocean-green restaurant had been purchased for $22,000. Another $4,000 was allocated to move the home.45

Any euphoria was short-lived. In the move, the home was damaged when it was discovered too late that the slot at 95 Crosby Street was not wide enough. The attempt to force the old home in clipped off a fire escape. Part of the upper floor collapsed as bricks rained to the ground (they were later “carefully salvaged”).46 The roof and back wall were also destroyed. The home was eventually pushed into place, but despite the preservationists’ best efforts, its fate was all but sealed. They were unable to raise additional funds for repair (which potential donors must have realized was now a lost cause), so the home stood roofless for two years, exposed to the elements and held together by cables and braces as vandals continued to chip away at it. By 1927, Theresa D. Browning, who held the deed for the Monroe Home Corporation, was no longer able to make payments toward the $15,770 still remaining on the mortgage. The Women’s Auxiliary to the American Scenic and Historic Preservation Society, which had commemorated the home 22 years earlier, made a public appeal for money to continue to preserve it. Despite their efforts, the home was again put up for auction on September 13, 1927.47 Assemblyman Frederick L. Hackenburg, who was placed in charge of the sale, lamented, “This could never happen abroad. I’d gladly give my fees and double them if someone one would raise funds to preserve the house.”48 When the auction ended, a familiar name won the bidding: the home was repurchased by Theresa D. Browning for $10,000. She had no illusions the home could be saved, but was hoping to resell the home to recoup some of her losses.

[image: image]

Photograph of the home being taken down from the Brooklyn Daily Eagle on November 26, 1927. The caption read: “One of New York City’s famous landmarks was doomed when workers began demolishing the historic home at 95 Crosby Street, Manhattan, in which President James Monroe lived for many years and where he died.”
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63 Prince Street, where Monroe died in Manhattan. Today, the site is a youth fashion store called “G-Star Raw.” At the location, there is no indication that Monroe lived or died there. (Courtesy of Francesca Leipzig Picone)

In late November 1927 the ramshackle structure was razed and lost forever to history (in place of the dangerously crumbling structure a garage was built).49 While the James Monroe Memorial Association and Foundation had proclaimed a goal to create a museum that would “stand through the centuries,” the home lasted only about five years after that. This tragic loss gives Monroe the sad distinction of becoming the first president whose death location is no longer in existence.

In November 1962 there was an office building located at the original home site and Felix J. Cuervo, a Veterans Administration officer, took matters into his own hands when he affixed a paper historic marker on the building that occupied 63 Prince Street. The watchman was not amused and barked, “Look mister, what am I gonna say when the super comes?” Cuervo responded in dramatic fashion, “Tell him that President Monroe used to live in a house that stood here and it’s a shame . . . that we have no respect for the place where he lived and died.” According to New York Times reporter Gay Talese, the unimpressed watchman “shrugged and walked off.”50 Cuervo would later graduate from taping handwritten markers to become president of the Native New Yorkers Historical Association. Two years after the lackluster response at Monroe’s home, he would be instrumental in having a permanent marker placed at the home where Chester Arthur died.

Funeral

Founded in 1766 as a “chapel-of-ease” for Trinity Church, St. Paul’s Chapel is a historic icon. Today it is considered the oldest public building in Manhattan still in use. After the spire was added in 1796, it was the tallest structure in New York, and it once sat in the shadow of the Twin Towers. Today, the Freedom Tower proudly looms overhead. However, when you visit, you will be hard-pressed to find information on the only presidential funeral to be held at St. Paul’s Chapel. Historic pamphlets and placards have a lot of information about another of its presidential congregants, George Washington, but make no mention of Monroe’s funeral services. On October 15, 1966, St. Paul’s Chapel was added to the National Register of Historic Places (#66000551).

St. Paul’s Chapel is located at Broadway and Fulton Street in Manhattan, New York, 10007. For more information, visit: www.TrinityWallStreet.org/about/StPaulsChapel.

The Original Cemetery

The Marble Cemetery is located on Second Street, between Second and First Avenues. It was originally known as “Stillwell’s Burial Ground” and was established shortly before Monroe’s death.51 It is a small, quiet cemetery that today seems oddly placed in the middle of a busy New York street. The scenic little oasis was added to the National Register of Historic Places on September 17, 1980 (#80002703). It next made the news 30 years later, on October 10, 2010, when the cemetery opened for Sunday tours and a volunteer “discovered a decaying garbage bag filled with 10 pounds of military-grade C-4 explosives!” A caretaker had apparently found the trash bag in the early summer of 2009, and instead of discarding it had moved it under a tree and forgotten about it.52
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